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Do not try to persuade us to come to an agreement with the barbarian. We shall not be persuaded. And now carry back to Mardonius this message from the Athenians: So long as the sun traverses the same course he traverses now we shall never make terms with Xerxes. We shall go forth to defend ourselves against him trusting to find at our side the gods and heroes whose dwellings and images he has impiously burnt.


Herodotus, The Persian Wars (c. 440 BC)


We must all stick together, all stick together


And the clouds will soon roll by


We must all stick together, all stick together


Never mind the old school tie


‘We Must All Stick Together’, Billy Cotton Band (1939)


‘A short time ago, we were just an undisciplined mob. Now we can deal with tanks. We can kill with our pikes. We can make them all sneeze with our pepper. And, after all, even the Hun is a very poor fighter with his head buried in a handkerchief. But remember, men, we have one invaluable weapon on our side. We have an unbreakable spirit to win. A bulldog tenacity that will help us to hang on while there’s breath left in our bodies. You don’t get that with Gestapos and jackboots. You get that by being British! So come on, Adolf! We’re ready for you!’


Captain Mainwaring, Dad’s Army (Episode One, 1968)




CHAPTER ONE


A Time of Extremes


No single artistic endeavour of the Blitz period – no film, no song, no radio programme – reveals more of the prevailing mood than a stage play called Thunder Rock. Phyllis Warner, a young middle-class Londoner, went to see it in the West End in March 1941, and described it in her diary as going ‘straight to the heart of the times’. It left her feeling ‘equipped for the ordeal that awaits’. She was not alone: ‘This play ought not to be missed,’ wrote George Orwell, reviewing it for Time and Tide magazine. And it became a huge hit – to the surprise of many who could remember the entertainment on offer during the First World War. A walk around the West End in search of a diverting evening in 1916 would have revealed musical revues such as Chu Chin Chow and melodramas like Edward Sheldon’s Romance, but not much in the way of serious theatre. These, though, were different times.


Thunder Rock is a claustrophobic tale of ghosts and politics set on a remote lighthouse on Lake Michigan – not an obvious recipe to inspire the British public. Its central character, disillusioned political journalist David Charleston, has renounced his former life, and retreated to the Thunder Rock lighthouse, where he is able to avoid human company for months on end. When visited by a former colleague, he explains that the problems thrown up by the modern world, with its currency of greed, expansion and destruction, are so insoluble that the only rational response is to run away. ‘I took this job,’ says Charleston, ‘to put myself out of circulation.’


But Charleston is not quite alone: he has created an imaginary world peopled by men and women who drowned during a storm on the lake ninety years earlier. These ‘ghosts’ are Charleston’s companions, his comfort, and the reason he eventually decides to re-enter the real world. They explain how, as they headed west across America in 1849, they were running away from the problems of their time – ignorance, social injustice, misogyny and disease. These problems might have seemed part of the order of nature in 1849 but, Charleston tells them, they would, in time, be tackled and overcome. Why, he asks, did they not stand up and fight when they had the chance? The ‘ghosts’ turn his own argument back on himself: why is he disengaging? Why is he failing to stand up and fight when he has the chance? Emboldened, he resolves to leave the lighthouse and rejoin the 1940 struggle. In a rousing finale, delivered to a former colleague, Streeter, he declares:




We’ve reason to believe that wars will cease one day, but only if we stop them ourselves. Get into it to get out, Street. We’ve got to create a new order out of the chaos of the old, and already its shape is becoming clear. A new order that will eradicate oppression, unemployment, starvation and wars as the old order eradicated plague and pestilences. And that is what we’ve to fight and work for, Street; not fighting for fighting’s sake, but to make a new world of the old. That’s our job, Street, and we can do it.





This is what a besieged Blitz audience wanted to hear. The fight against Hitler, the fight against oppression and chaos, the fight for a better future – these were really one fight, and it was winnable. Hitler was a symptom rather than a cause, and his passing would herald the dawn of the entire world. ‘Quite possibly our present evils, even including war, will disappear like leprosy and bubonic plague,’ wrote Orwell in his review. And it is interesting that this message of shining hope was brought to Britain by an American playwright, Robert Ardrey, just as the United States ambassador Joseph Kennedy – that ‘foul specimen of double-crosser and defeatist’ in the memorable words of Lord Vansittart – had done all he could to keep his country out of the war.
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Thunder Rock had flopped in New York, closing after just a week. Ardrey wrote of his own play, ‘If the audience is cynical or satisfied or subjected to no sense of pressing danger, then the play does not exist. It is strictly a play for desperate people.’ It might not have existed for isolationist New Yorkers but it certainly did for blitzed Londoners. As well as for the British government – which paid for Thunder Rock’s transfer from a fringe theatre in Kensington to the West End. Michael Redgrave, the actor playing Charleston, met Treasury officials who told him that the government had bankrolled the play, but that its involvement must be kept secret. Such cloak-and-dagger state involvement might seem anti-democratic but the war years are usually excused: the ultimate survival of democracy allows for its brief suspension. And the fact is that the play did not, in truth, influence the people’s mood; it reflected it.


But it reflected only one element of the mood. As Tom Harrisson – anthropologist and co-founder of Mass-Observation, the extraordinary and controversial wartime barometer of public opinion – has written: ‘At no time in the Second World War generally, and in the Blitz particularly were British civilians united on anything, though they might be ready to appear so in public on certain issues.’


This book is a biography of the period, and as such it will try to look beyond the public faces to the real experiences behind events. It can certainly be difficult nowadays to express a contrary view on controversial events. It sometimes seems that we prefer ideas – as well as people – to be simplified into good or bad, right or wrong, black or white. A person, a dispute, a country, all are too often reduced to tabloid-friendly shorthand. Perhaps we are scared of thinking for ourselves. Perhaps we mistake nuance for weakness. And if this is how we contemplate the present, how much harder to make meaningful sense of the past, that foreign country where things are done differently? Here we often find ourselves guided by consensus; by received wisdoms that have been worn down by the years until they achieve the status of truth. So is it safe to pay heed to received wisdoms about the Blitz? A version of the consensus narrative, the sort one is used to hearing, might run something like this:


The Blitz began on 7 September 1940 with a huge raid on London, as the Luftwaffe changed its focus from trying to destroy the Royal Air Force’s fighter defences, to trying to crush civilian morale with a sustained aerial onslaught on the capital. From that day, London was attacked on fifty-seven consecutive nights. The East End was hit hardest – and responded to the danger and hardship with typical resolute humour – although other areas of London were also badly affected. Buckingham Palace, for example, suffered nine direct hits – allowing the King and Queen to ‘look the East End squarely in the face’. Thanks to grass-roots pressure on the authorities, London Underground stations were opened as deep shelters; inhabitants enjoyed the sense of community, and many were loath to leave at the end of the war. In November, Hitler ordered the Blitz to be widened to target the major ports and industrial cities, in an attempt to shatter the nation’s economy. This phase began with a horrifying attack on Coventry on 14 November. Attacks followed on Southampton, Birmingham, Liverpool, Manchester and Sheffield.


All the while, Winston Churchill’s carefully crafted words rallied the country, while some unprecedented social effects took hold. For the first time, British people of different classes and localities started talking to each other. Bombing ensured that people not only shared the same danger, but also sheltered together, fire-watched together, and served in the Air Raid Precautions (ARP) and Home Guard together. Evacuation meant that understanding replaced mistrust. Rationing and austerity measures meant that people wore the same clothes, ate the same food, bought the same furniture – and occasionally dabbled in the black market together. Women took jobs which had long been the preserve of men. Legislation was passed ensuring factory workers a guaranteed wage, a newly gained importance from which there would be no going back after the war. A surreptitious social revolution was taking place, paving the way for the Beveridge Report and the post-war welfare state.


On 10 May 1941 London suffered its worst raid. The Luftwaffe took advantage of a full moon and a low tide to start almost 2,500 fires. The House of Commons burnt to the ground, and nearly 1,500 people were killed. And this night, although nobody in Britain knew it at the time, marked the last night of the Blitz. Six weeks later, Hitler launched Operation Barbarossa, his attack on the Soviet Union. He expected a quick victory, which would allow him to return his attention, once again, to Britain. That quick victory, of course, never came. Britain, standing alone with its colonies and dominions, had resisted Adolf Hitler. Before the entry into the war of the United States or the Soviet Union, the citizens of this country had kept the light of liberty shining. They had saved the world for democracy and freedom.


The conclusion of that narrative was invoked by Labour Party leader, Michael Foot, in April 1982, the day after the Argentinian invasion of the Falkland Islands. In supporting military action, Foot proudly reminded the House of Commons of ‘the claim of our country to be a defender of people’s freedom throughout the world, particularly those who look to us for special protection’. Not only did Foot live through the events of 1940 and 1941, he was one of the authors of ‘Guilty Men’, a criticism, published in July 1940, of Britain’s unpreparedness for war. So we should be very careful before dismissing his words simply because they are familiar. They may contain substantial truth.


The consensus is often known today – perhaps harshly – as ‘the myth of the Blitz’, which was the title of a 1991 book by Angus Calder. Calder was keen to stress that his use of the word ‘myth’ did not imply that it was founded on lies, but rather that it presented a purified story, stripped of complexity and conflict, which invoked some truths and ignored others in its effort to appear historically destined. Far from striking the reader as gratuitous revisionism, Calder’s work is notable for his belief that the ‘myth’ is not a crude propagandist distortion. He accepts significant parts of it, and commends it, in his final chapter for promoting ‘a juster and friendlier society’. But it is difficult to disagree that, ultimately, the ‘myth’ does not – cannot – tell the whole story.


But care must be taken when digging deeper into such an emotive, politically charged period of history. The ‘myth’ has guardians fiercer than any dragon slain by Hercules. When it is suggested that people sometimes behaved badly during the Blitz, the guardians are liable to react with fury. An individual born long after 1940 will assert that nothing like that ever happened, while another will scoff that far worse things happen today – as though that has any bearing on the discussion. And, conversely, the suggestion that a ‘Blitz Spirit’ existed also has the power to infuriate. When writer Matt Wingett was putting together a theatre piece set in 1940, an artist friend asked him whether this would be another ‘bloody thing where we all pull together’. The friend, it seemed, had once met an old woman who told him of her miserable experiences during the Blitz. For the friend, there was now only one reality.


So how did the people of Britain behave during the Blitz? Did they sing ‘Roll out the Barrel’ in communal shelters, shaking their fists at ‘bloody Adolf’, before cheerfully dodging the debris next morning on their way to work? Or did they loot from bombed-out houses, fiddle their rations and curse foreigners, while hoping for a negotiated peace that would save their wretched lives?
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Faces of ‘Blitz Spirit’. London firemen photographed in May 1941.





The answer, of course, is that they did both, and they did neither. Life was dangerous, hard, and lived in the shadow of invasion and death. It was also exciting and shot through with optimism. People pulled together and helped strangers; they broke rules and exploited neighbours. They bonded with, and stole from one another, they grew to understand, and to dislike each other. They tolerated without complaint and they complained without tolerance. They were scared and fearless, they coped and they cracked. They lost all hope, and they looked to the future. They behaved, in short, like a lot of human beings. Everything they did both confirms and refutes the ‘myth’ of the Blitz.


Over the course of this book, we will meet a widely ranging cast of characters. From the woman who experienced the Blitz as a time of ‘triumph and happiness’ to the man who described it as a time when he learned that ‘the world was a dark place’, to the opportunist who ‘used to pray for a fucking [air raid] warning, ’cos a lot of these shopkeepers used to run out and leave their shops . . .’


But while there was no single reaction nor a reliable formula to predict behaviour, it must always be borne in mind that large numbers of British people were faced with a period of brutal and intense terror that is almost unimaginable today. Even at the time, nobody could predict what months of intensive air raids would do to the morale of a nation. Our parents, grandparents and great-grandparents were guinea pigs – and extraordinary things happened to them.


Albert Dance was a lance corporal in the Rifle Brigade who had been one of the last soldiers brought home from Dunkirk. A two-man yacht had spotted him lying asleep on a jetty near La Panne on 4 June. Seven months later, he married his sweetheart, Maisie, a factory worker, at the garrison church in Woolwich. And just a fortnight after that, he was called out of his army billet by an officer who poured him a whisky. ‘I’m sorry,’ said the officer, ‘but your wife has been very badly injured in a bombing raid.’


Maisie Dance was working at the Varley Magnet Company in Woolwich, making radio components. On the night of 28 January 1941 an air raid siren sounded, aeroplanes were spotted overhead, and the foreman sent workers into the shelter. Maisie was one of the last to enter, and as she did, a bomb exploded. She caught the blast. Albert was sent directly to Woolwich where he was escorted by Maisie’s father to St Nicholas’ Hospital. He remembers his initial reaction on seeing his wife: ‘She was a beautiful girl with lovely hair. Her hair was all matted with oil, her face was bashed, stones were embedded in her cheeks. She was crying with pain because her back was shattered and her arm was shattered. It was awful.’
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Albert Dance – photographed later in the war as a staff sergeant in the Glider Pilot Regiment.





Albert spent the subsequent days at the hospital, and the nights at his mother’s house. He remembers the smell coming from underneath Maisie’s plaster casts; to distract her from it he started bringing in bunches of lavender. After a while, to his relief, her spirits seemed to lift. But throughout this time, the doctors were able to tell him very little. ‘They didn’t know what she’d be like when she came out,’ he says.


After a few weeks, Maisie was moved to a hospital in Darenth, and Albert returned to his unit. He had been gone just three days when a telegram arrived. Maisie had developed tetanus. Albert hurried back – to find his wife unable to recognise him. Her body was rigid and her face was locked. He fell to his knees and prayed to God to end her suffering. ‘I walked out to get a nurse and a doctor,’ he says, ‘and as I walked back in, she died.’


Albert Dance was interviewed by the Imperial War Museum in 1999, specifically about his experiences at Dunkirk and, later, in the Glider Pilot Regiment. This story of his wife’s death was not the main focus of the interview. It was incidental and nearly lost to the years, as have been countless other stories. And just as there were all sorts of different kinds of behaviour during the Blitz, so there were different reactions to the grief it caused. Joan Batt was living in Coventry in November 1940 when the city centre was all but destroyed. Years later, she said, ‘I still feel hatred for the Germans, they took everything off me.’ Ethel Clarke’s son was killed in an air raid, but she felt empathy with the Germans: ‘They didn’t ask for war. They lost their sons, we lost our sons.’ However understandable it is that a particular reaction be viewed as the only possible or rational one, however neatly it slots into the received wisdom, we must remain alert across a much wider spectrum.


And if it is human nature to fail to acknowledge the attitudes of others, it is equally human nature to become set in unquestioned ways of behaviour. All of us do it all of the time – and it can take a startling event to wake us up to other possibilities. The Blitz was such an event: it shocked people out of their rhythms. It encouraged unaccustomed ‘good’ behaviour and unaccustomed ‘bad’ behaviour – sometimes from the same individual. The Blitz was, above all, a time of extremes. Extremes of experience, extremes of behaviour, extremes of reaction. In all directions.


A very small thing happens in Patrick Hamilton’s beautiful wartime novel, The Slaves of Solitude. Miss Roach, a sensible young middle-class woman, is staying in a boarding house in a suburban town, beyond the reach of the bombs. While living this unfamiliar life, she enters a pub and has a drink. She is alone. There is no one else with her. And then she shares a drink with, and gets drunk with, a male stranger. As a poster girl for rebellion Miss Roach hardly stands with Emily Davison or Rosa Parks – but she is a rebel, all the same. She would not have contemplated such behaviour before the war. The Blitz was a time of intensity; people took risks, and they did new things – to greater and lesser degrees. They related to each other in wholly new ways. And their social, economic and political expectations grew as the world became a less permanent and more mobile place.


The year 2015 marks the seventy-fifth anniversary of Dunkirk, the Battle of Britain, and the start of the Blitz – and this is a significant time-lapse. It marks the point where living memory starts to turn into history, when the muddy soup of perceptions, memories, and interpretations – or ‘real life’ – begins to thicken into historical fact, ready to be used to shore up old prejudices. But before it solidifies, we have a chance to look closer. To speak to survivors, to search out old interviews, to study newly released documents.


And let’s not focus on the familiar stories, but on a wider picture of Britain around the time of the Blitz. Not in order to prove a point, or to confirm a thesis, but to gain a sense of a complicated, nuanced, uncertain time. Don’t allow the myth-defenders to convince you that people behaved in a certain way. And don’t let the myth-deniers tell you that they didn’t. For a little while, at least, let us look beyond the theories that pretend to account for the entire throbbing mass of free-willed Britons.


We could start by probing a fact or two. It is well known, for example, that the Blitz began on 7 September 1940. Certainly, that was the day that Hermann Goering took personal command of the air offensive against Britain, and the day when that offensive was directed on London. In Goering’s mind, a concerted attack on London made sense. It was an attack on the Port of London through which food and supplies arrived, on the political and administrative centre of Britain from which the war was run, and on densely populated urban areas whose morale could be affected. But from the German perspective, this attack on London heralded no change in strategy. It was simply the continuation of Adolf Hitler’s effort to bring Britain to heel, whether by invasion, negotiation, or popular uprising. For the British, the Battle of Britain and the Blitz were fought over different territory with entirely different forces. But for the Germans, it amounted to a single aerial assault, carried out by the same forces from the same airfields with the same basic objectives.


And 7 September was not even the first attack on London. That took place a fortnight earlier. For a period of about four-and-a-half hours, from 11 p.m. on 24 August, bombs were dropped across the capital from West Ham, Stepney and Bethnal Green in the east to Esher and Staines in the west. Two weeks before ‘Black Saturday’, the London sky had glowed red.


And the serious bombing of British civilians had already taken place sometime before that. On the night of 18 June 1940, a bright ‘bomber’s moon’ had shone over southern and eastern England as seventy-one German aircraft set out across the Channel. Some were attempting to destroy the oil storage tanks at Thameshaven, others were targeting the airfields at Mildenhall and Honington. Heinkel 111s of Kampfgeschwader 4, meanwhile, were on their way to attack railway installations. It represented the first major raid on Great Britain.


That night, Michael Bowyer, a schoolboy living near the river in Cambridge, was at home with his parents. Michael knew a lot about aeroplanes; he could distinguish the unsynchronised revving of a Heinkel 111 from the rattling of a Dornier 17 and the smooth tone of a Junkers 88. And so he was excited, just before midnight, to hear a Heinkel passing low over the house. This was followed by a piercing whistle – the sound of bombs falling, and then by two huge explosions. The windows rattled, the pressure in the room changed suddenly, and a pig’s carcass, hanging from the ceiling, swung to and fro. ‘Oh hell!’ Michael exclaimed. ‘Don’t swear in front of your mother!’ said his father. A few seconds later, a British Merlin engine roared overhead, and then came the sound of human activity outside. An excited air raid warden blew his whistle and swung his rattle, before hammering at the front door, and shouting for the Bowyers to follow him into the shelter opposite. They did as they were told. Michael’s father brought with him an attaché case that he had ready. It contained his will, savings certificates, cheque book, some cash, and the deeds to the house. He looked, says Michael, as though he was going on holiday. Inside the shelter, Mr Clover, the chief warden, made a solemn announcement: ‘Bombs have fallen. There have been casualties. I am not permitted to tell you any more.’ At that moment, a man rushed in, shouting, ‘They’ve got Vicarage Terrace.’


Vicarage Terrace was a few minutes’ walk away. It consisted of modest two-storey houses, with front doors leading directly into front rooms, and toilets in sheds at the bottom of gardens. The terrace had no electricity, only gas lighting downstairs and candles upstairs. For its residents, and for the country as a whole, the last month had brought a flow of depressing news. German Panzer divisions had thundered through the supposedly impenetrable – and barely defended – Ardennes area, forcing the British army to withdraw haphazardly to the Channel coast. A desperate operation had managed to bring its remnants – men such as Albert Dance – back to England. Holland and Belgium had quickly surrendered, and just four days earlier, the first German troops had entered Paris. France was falling, and church bells in Britain had been silenced to be rung only in the event of a German invasion – as now seemed likely.


The air raid siren had sounded in Vicarage Terrace just before 11.30 p.m. that night. There was nothing unusual in this. Sirens had been sounding across the country for eight and a half months. When they had first sounded on the morning of 3 September 1939 – minutes after Neville Chamberlain’s radio announcement that Britain was at war with Germany – people had genuinely expected the skies to blacken with Nazi bombers sent to deliver the ‘knock-out blow’. Private and public shelters had quickly filled with the stoic, the nervous, and the downright hysterical, all carrying their gas masks. The evacuation of hundreds of thousands of children from vulnerable cities to safer areas (such as Cambridge) had already begun, and hospitals had been discharging their non-essential patients to make room for the tens of thousands of air raid casualties expected imminently. But they did not arrive. The knock-out blow was not delivered. Weeks of waiting turned into months, and people, unsurprisingly, became less vigilant. A handful of civilians, it is true, were killed. One on Orkney, by a misdirected bomb, and two in Clacton-on-Sea when a Heinkel crash-landed into a house. But these were rare and isolated events. And so, when the siren sounded in Cambridge on 18 June, the residents of Vicarage Terrace felt they had little to fear.


A few of the residents responded to the alarm by walking to the public shelter. Most did not. Olive Unwin, in number seven, was going over the details of her wedding, due to take place that weekend. On hearing the siren, she made her way downstairs to the front room, where she sat beneath the stairs. She was joined by the other four members of the family. This spot, they felt, was the safest part of the house. Further down the terrace, the Deere family – father, mother, and five-month-old baby – also moved downstairs, but after fifteen minutes returned to bed, believing this to be yet another false alarm. Others in the terrace took no precautions at all. Edna Clark was in bed with her younger sister, Gladys. As the Heinkel approached the terrace, she got up to ask her father whether everything was all right. ‘Yes, my duck, get back to bed,’ he soothed. Seconds later, at some point around midnight, the Heinkel 111, which had just passed over Michael Bowyer’s house, dropped two 50kg bombs on Vicarage Terrace. Numbers one to six were demolished; numbers seven to ten were badly damaged.


The Unwins in number seven were fortunate. The roof collapsed, but the family was sheltered underneath the stairs. Olive’s brother was able to push aside timber and masonry to clear a path, allowing all five members to escape. The Deeres, asleep upstairs in the bedroom, fell through the collapsed floor, and were buried by the remains of the roof. They were eventually dug out by rescue workers; the parents survived but baby Heather did not. Edna Clarke was knocked to the ground, but her sister Gladys – in the bed to which Edna was returning – was killed by a falling beam. All three members of the Beresford family, in number six, were killed, including a two-year-old boy. Three hours after the explosion, faint cries were heard in the wreckage. A tunnel was dug, and forty-seven-year-old Lily Langley was dragged to safety. But her husband William and eighteen-year-old son Sam were both dead. In all, nine people were killed and eight injured by the bombs. One of the injured was Lily Itzcovitch, an eleven-year-old Londoner who had been evacuated to quiet Cambridge.


At nine o’clock the next morning, Michael Bowyer cycled past Vicarage Terrace on his way to school. Seventy-four years later, I accompanied him as he retraced his steps. The terrace today consists of modern two-storey buildings with a gap at one end, and as Michael looked around, he was struck by how ordinary everything seemed. ‘You just wouldn’t know that anything terrible had happened here,’ he says. ‘It’s amazing, isn’t it?’ His strongest memories of the morning after were of the powerful smell of dust, and the desperate feeling of invaded privacy: ‘I thought that was awful, your house and the miserable conditions in which you lived were exposed for the whole world to see.’ As we walked to the end of the terrace, Michael pointed out where a barricade had been placed, behind which officials were studying the state of the gas and water mains. And he recalled two particularly poignant sights: a piano standing in the middle of the shattered street, and a child’s doll, lying in the gutter, missing its head.


For a while after the bombing, Michael says, local people started taking shelter whenever the sirens sounded. Only for a while, however. ‘Pretty soon,’ he says, ‘the attitude was, “Damn it, I can’t be bothered!’’’ And he is convinced that the Heinkel was intending to drop its bombs on the huge railway goods yard nearby. Having heard the sound of the engine change over his house, he believes that it was simply too low when it dropped its bombs. ‘If he’d been a little bit higher, he might have got nearer to the yard. There were something like fifty tracks there, so it was a prime target. But the bombs were dropped too soon.’


Michael can remember that, late on the night of the bombing, the head warden returned to his shelter with an exciting announcement: ‘They’ve shot the blighter down, killed them all!’ ‘Where?’ asked Michael. ‘Ah, son, that’s a military secret!’ replied the warden who kept the secret for a few seconds before proclaiming, ‘Fulbourn!’ He then announced that a Spitfire had shot the Heinkel down, which Michael doubted. How could a Spitfire have downed a German bomber at night? When another warden added that the Heinkel pilot had been a Cambridge undergraduate, the tale’s peculiarity increased.


Yet these Chinese whispers were not quite as fanciful as they seemed. Heinkel 5J+AM of Kampfgeschwader 4, piloted by Oberleutnant Joachim von Arnim, did indeed crash at Fulbourn in the early morning of 19 June 1940. Von Arnim, writing many years later to aviation historian Andy Saunders, related his surprise at being attacked by British fighters that night. He and his crew had been anticipating only anti-aircraft fire. It seems that his Heinkel was caught in a searchlight, and attacked by a Spitfire of 19 Squadron, flown by Flying Officer Petra, and a Blenheim of 23 Squadron, captained by Squadron Leader O’Brien. The Spitfire was about to open fire when the Blenheim arrived, so it banked away and started pouring tracer into the Heinkel from one side as the Blenheim fired several long bursts. Smoke started to gush from one of the Heinkel’s engines, but its upper gunner was now firing back at the Spitfire which was itself illuminated by a searchlight. Explosive bullets struck the Spitfire’s fuel tank, setting it on fire. Petra baled out with severe burns to his face and hands. The Blenheim also came under fire from the Heinkel’s guns, and went into an uncontrollable spin. O’Brien managed to bale out safely, but his navigator, Pilot Officer King-Clark, was killed by a propeller as he tried to jump clear, and his air gunner, Corporal Little, was killed as it hit the ground. The Heinkel, meanwhile, was sent out of control by the combined fire of the two fighters. ‘We had to bale out in a hurry,’ Von Arnim writes. He and two of his crew members parachuted down safely, while the fourth was killed. The survivors landed in a potato field, and two hours later, they were taken prisoner by Local Defence Volunteers – the forerunners of the Home Guard – and escorted to barracks in Bury St Edmunds.


The first LDV to respond was Ron Barnes, a farm labourer. He had been woken by a commotion outside, and somebody shouting, ‘Paratroops have landed!’ As we shall discover, airmen parachuting from doomed aeroplanes were often mistaken for parachute troops: at a time of invasion fears, people saw what they wanted to see. Ron grabbed his rifle and set off across fields. After a while, he noticed movement, and shouted a challenge. A man – who was probably Joachim von Arnim – threw up his hands and replied in German. Ron escorted him to a searchlight post, and handed him over. Ron was later interviewed by the London Evening Standard, in which he was celebrated as the first LDV to capture a member of the German armed forces.
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Oberleutnant Joachim von Arnim and Feldwebel Wilhelm Maier in the cockpit of Heinkel He. 111H 5J+AM.












[image: image]







The wreckage of Heinkel He. 111H 5J+AM at Fulbourn.





So what can we make of the rumours heard by young Michael Bowyer in his shelter? To begin with, a Heinkel 111 had crashed at Fulbourn. And it had been shot down (or shared, at least) by a Spitfire. There is little, however, to back up the warden’s claim that a member of its crew had spent time at Cambridge University. And this Heinkel, we can be sure, was not the aircraft that bombed Vicarage Terrace. Joachim Von Armin’s Heinkel crashed at Fulbourn over an hour after the bombs landed; Fulbourn is only five miles from Cambridge.


All the same, this was clearly the night when the Blitz came to Cambridge. Even though, as any fule kno, it hadn’t started yet.




CHAPTER TWO


Homeless and Helpless


Olive Unwin, the young woman due to get married on the Saturday following the Vicarage Road bombing, defied the circumstances and went ahead with the ceremony. On 22 June 1940 she married Private George Brown at St Matthews Church, only yards from her bombed house. Her wedding dress had not survived the raid, so she had little choice but to wear something borrowed.


As she walked down the aisle, a nineteen-year-old undergraduate at University College, Oxford, was awaiting trial at Stafford Assizes for a much darker act of defiance. His was the sort of crime that has, in recent years, become common in countries where firearms are freely available. In 1940 an unstable British teenager had little difficulty in finding a gun. In Hackney, in east London, meanwhile, an old woman was living in rented rooms with her blind husband. The couple had enjoyed a long and happy marriage, but the old man was becoming increasingly senile and dependent on his wife. Life was about to become even harder for them. The young Oxford student and the elderly London couple had little in common – but their extraordinary responses to national events reveal a great deal about Britain in summer and autumn 1940.


On the afternoon of 17 May, John Fulljames walked into a college friend’s room, picked up the Lee Enfield rifle propped up in a corner, and wandered back to his own room. He loaded a cartridge, steadied himself at the window, and opened fire on fellow students crossing the quad. Charles Moffat was shot in the abdomen. As he fell, groaning, another shot struck him in the neck, killing him. The second bullet also injured Dennis Melrose in the chest. A third shot missed, but a fourth struck Pierre de Kock in the calf. John Fulljames was not firing indiscriminately; his targets were all members of a particular college ‘set’. After the shooting, Fulljames walked up to the dean of the college. The dean asked him whether he knew from which room the shots had come. ‘I’m afraid they came from mine,’ said Fulljames. ‘Do you know who had the gun?’ ‘I’m afraid I did. What do you want me to do, sir?’









[image: image]







A police photograph of the quad at University College, Oxford. Taken shortly after the shooting, a bloodstain is clearly visible.





Fulljames had been approaching the end of his first year at Oxford. He was a quiet young man with an excellent school record, who had recently turned moody and apathetic. Nowadays he would probably be described as ‘disaffected’. Certainly, his behaviour had been erratic. While declaring himself to be a pacifist, he tried – and failed – to enlist in the Territorial Army. He told a college friend that he might ‘get a kick out of killing’, but when he went to see the Bette Davis film Dark Victory, he had to leave the cinema owing to his ‘horror of bloodshed’. He developed a dislike for a boisterous ‘set’ of college people – including Moffat, Melrose and de Kock – even though he had barely spoken to them. And he was described by his closest friend as being ‘very worried about the war’.


At 9 a.m. on the morning of the shooting, Fulljames was seen searching a room for rifle ammunition. Later that morning, he wrote a casual note to a young man at another college:




Thank you very much for your invitation and I’m sorry if you have ordered my dinner for nothing but I’m afraid I won’t be able to come to Oriel tonight. Probably unforeseen and pressing engagements will detain me in durance vile. Still, iron bars, etc . . . or is it ‘stone walls’?





In durance vile is an archaic expression for a long prison term, while the final sentence refers to a line from Richard Lovelace’s 1642 poem ‘To Althea, From Prison’: ‘Stone walls do not a prison make, Nor iron bars a cage’. In the hours before the shooting, Fulljames wrote to another friend:




Michael, I want you to know, though I feel that you do, that during the second and the age that I have known you, life has opened out for me.





Hidden in the adolescent love pangs are clues as to his state of mind:




I want you to believe that what I do today, because I know what is going to happen, cannot separate us – I know that physically we shall be apart, but I shall always feel that somewhere, though you may not understand any more than I do, why I am going to do I have felt this coming all term [sic], and most of last. But I never really believed even when I saw ten cartridges at home, even until last night, and not until I woke this morning that I should ever do anything quite so utterly foolish.





So while the act (or at least, some act) had been brewing for a while, it seems Fulljames only finally decided on it that morning. After the shooting, Fulljames sat in the porter’s lodge with the Master of the college, Sir William Beveridge, the economist whose 1942 report would inspire the creation of the welfare state. Beveridge asked Fulljames whether he had been ill. ‘No,’ he said.


While on remand in Brixton Prison, Fulljames was examined by the senior medical officer who found him to be suffering from paranoid schizophrenia. ‘His antipathy,’ wrote the doctor, ‘seems to have generated in his own mind without any stimulating factors of any kind.’ But he went on to state that his schizophrenia was at an early stage of development. He was fit to stand trial for murder.


The trial was held in early July. Counsel for Fulljames had to prove insanity. He submitted that when his client fired the four shots, he did not know that what he was doing was wrong. He presented the concept of schizophrenia to the jury by referring them to ‘the famous horror story’ involving Dr Jekyll and Mr Hyde. ‘The mind,’ he said, ‘disintegrated and the whole personality was withdrawn from reality into a world of fantasy.’ He called an eminent psychologist, Dr Henry Yellowlees, to give evidence that Fulljames was insane in law. In rebuttal, the prosecution called the senior medical officer from Brixton Prison, who restated his opinion that the schizophrenia was not advanced, and that Fulljames had known, when he fired, that what he was doing was wrong. The jury was presented with a straight choice. The young man’s life rested on its decision.


The jury retired for just twenty-five minutes. It returned a verdict of guilty, but insane. Fulljames had escaped the hangman and was committed to Broadmoor. He smiled as he left the dock. In one respect, his story seems startlingly modern; we think of campus shooting sprees as a contemporary American phenomenon. But this spree was very much of its time. Britain was in crisis, its army on the run in France, its identity no longer certain. John Fulljames, a pacifist, horrified by the sight of blood, tried to join up – and failed. Even in its darkest hour, his country rejected him, and he went to an extreme to demonstrate his own existence. His defiance was the dark reflection of the optimism of Thunder Rock. And his survival was every bit as fortunate as the survival of his countrymen rescued from Dunkirk. A letter in his prison file, opened in 2014, reveals that, despite the jury’s verdict and the evidence of Dr Yellowlees, the medical authorities at Broadmoor did not believe him ever to have been insane, and were content to advise the Home Secretary to agree to his release in 1945, after just five years of detention. Fulljames, it seems, might very easily have been hanged for the murder of Charles Moffat.


The case of Ida Rodway, meanwhile, exposes the truth about the early weeks of the London Blitz. On 14 November 1940 she was arraigned at the Old Bailey for the murder of her blind husband Joseph. She had attacked him with a chopper and a carving knife, almost severing his head from his body. It is perhaps difficult to conceive how a domestic incident, however tragic, could cast much light on the period – but a closer look reveals that both Ida and Joseph Rodway were just as much victims of the Blitz as anybody killed by an aerial mine.


Ida and Joseph were married in April 1901. They had lived together for almost forty years. In that time, Joseph’s brother, Albert, had never known them to share a cross word. ‘They were always happy,’ he told the police. Joseph had worked as a carman, a horse-drawn delivery driver, but this was a dying trade, and he had been out of work for ten years. Ida had been working as a boot machinist, but when Joseph’s sight began to deteriorate, she started caring for him. When he lost his sight entirely, and his mind began to fail, he became entirely dependent on her. As a result, Ida’s attendance at work fell away, and she lost her job. They had now to survive, each week, on 10 shillings from Joseph’s pension and 26 shillings from the labour exchange, with the knowledge that the latter would soon be stopped.


On 21 September 1940 the east London house, in which they rented rooms, was bombed. Ida and Joseph, in their garden shelter, were physically unhurt, but Joseph was admitted to Hackney Hospital in a state of distress, and Ida went to stay with friends. After three days, the hospital discharged Joseph, leaving the couple with nowhere to go, until Ida’s sister agreed to take them in. For the next week, they slept on the floor of her back room. Throughout this time, Joseph never understood where he was. Ida had trouble looking after him in a strange house, and he was becoming more confused. She had other anxieties, too: she would soon lose her labour money, leaving them with just ten shillings a week (about £20 today), and no idea what to do about the bombed house which still contained their furniture and possessions. She told her sister that she wished the bomb had killed them, and she started think about suicide – but decided that it would not be fair on her helpless husband. ‘I thought to myself,’ she later told police, ‘“Oh, what shall I do?”’


Her answer to that question came on the morning of 1 October. Instead of bringing her husband a cup of tea in bed, as she had begun to do, she picked up a chopper and a carving knife. She went into the back room, and found Joseph sitting up in bed. She hit him first with the chopper – but it broke. ‘What are you doing this for?’ asked Joseph, startled. And then she cut his throat.


A little later, Ida’s upstairs neighbour, Lily Beauchamp, met her walking down the street. Ida appeared dazed, and said, ‘Lil, I’ve murdered my husband. I want to find a policeman. Will you get one of the wardens?’ The astonished Mrs Beauchamp fetched a warden who accompanied them to the house. When the police arrived, Ida said, ‘He was my husband. I was worried about him. He was blind. We were bombed out of our home and I had nowhere to go and nobody to help me. I was worried to death. I don’t know what made me do it.’


Ida was placed on remand in the hospital wing of Holloway Prison, where she spent her days sitting quietly, showing no emotion. She told the medical officer that she had done the right thing, as her husband was now out of his misery. On the morning of her Old Bailey trial, 13 November, the medical officer spoke to her once more. Ida told him that she intended to plead guilty to murder, as that would get everything settled. She said again that she had done the right thing, and seemed to the doctor to be entirely unconcerned about the result of the trial. On the basis of this interview, the doctor gave evidence to the court that Ida was insane and unfit to plead. The jury returned a formal verdict to that effect, and Ida Rodway, like John Fulljames before her, was committed to Broadmoor. Unlike Fulljames, she would never be released. She died in the asylum on 25 April 1946.


When speaking to the court, the medical officer made much of the fact that Ida believed that she had done nothing wrong. This, to his thinking, was strong evidence of her insanity. But ‘nothing wrong’ to Ida Rodway meant that she had done the right thing in the circumstances. And given her husband’s mental and physical condition, given the huge difficulty Ida was having looking after him, and given their desperate future prospects, who could say with certainty that she had not? The insanity finding, of course, saved her from the hangman, but it is striking that in the surviving case papers, the only recognition of the practical difficulties faced by the Rodways can be found on Ida’s application for legal aid, made eight days after she had been charged with murder. The form reads: ‘The attack appears to have been the result of worry and agitation through war conditions.’ And ‘war conditions’ in east London, at the start of the Blitz, could be deeply distressing. As air raid warden Barbara Nixon noted, for many of the poor, the loss of a home was ‘a disaster comparable with the loss of life.’
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‘Homeless’ by Clifford Hall. For many thousands of people – and certainly for Ida Rodway – being left homeless and helpless led to unthinkable misery.





One of the surprising features of the Blitz, when it arrived, was the relatively small loss of life compared with the unexpectedly large amount of damage to buildings. Over 13,000 people were killed in September and October, and however much suffering this represented, it was a much smaller figure than had been feared. The number of Londoners made homeless by the middle of October, on the other hand, was around 250,000 – far greater than expected. The homeless might be left with nowhere to sleep, nowhere to eat, nowhere to wash, no money, no ration book, no clothes except those they were wearing, goods and furniture that needed salvaging, a damaged house that needed repairs, and no idea of what to do about any of these things. For the first few weeks of the Blitz, the authorities were taken by surprise. They could not control the situation. The result was described by social scientist Richard Titmuss, in his official history of wartime social policy, as a ‘crisis in London’. It was the central factor in Ida Rodway’s sense of helplessness and hopelessness. And she was not alone in her despair.


When a family or an individual was bombed out, the first port of call was usually a rest centre. Often situated in an evacuated school, offering tea, bread, shelter, and sanitation, rest centres were intended merely as casualty clearing stations, to be emptied each day to make room for the next wave of homeless. But a daily turnover relied on housing being found each day, and though the bombs kept falling, the replacement housing did not arrive. In the first six weeks of the Blitz, only around 7,000 Londoners were rehoused, compared with the quarter of a million who were made homeless. The discrepancy is startling. Some people were staying with friends and family, some were living half-lives between shelters and bombed-out houses, some were living rough. By 26 September, there were 25,000 people in London rest centres, and the congestion was growing.


Gioya Steinke worked in a rest centre. Once the ‘all clear’ had sounded, she became used to receiving wardens and firemen who arrived with people caked in thick bomb dust and debris. ‘It was very distressing,’ she says, ‘there was a lot of grief and crying.’ At first, Gioya spent much of the time in tears, but was told to learn to control herself. ‘You didn’t know who was a street market person and who was a person from the posh flats,’ she says, ‘they were all reduced down, and this, I think, had a lot to do with the wonderful camaraderie of the war.’ One wonders, though, how much camaraderie was felt at the time.


When Lily Merriman’s house was destroyed, she and her mother and father were put on a bus and sent to a rest centre in a nearby school where they remained for a month. ‘We felt like refugees,’ she says. The centre had separate rooms for men and women, as well as a family room where Lily’s family slept on mattresses on the floor alongside strangers. As a result she refused to undress. And there were washing facilities, but no baths. ‘I used to feel dirty,’ she says. When the family was eventually rehoused, it was to a new area: ‘We didn’t see any of our old neighbours any more. We was shifted, and that was it.’


But people were being shifted very slowly. Part of the problem was that the homeless did not know where to go for help. Often it was not clear where they should be going. There were too many assistance bodies, with badly defined responsibilities, and little co-ordination between them. The London County Council and a metropolitan borough, for example, might both try to billet different families in the same house. Richard Titmuss records how a damaged house resulted in visits to separate offices for cash advances, clothing, ration books, repairs, the salvage of furniture, the reconnection of utilities, and information about evacuation. And there was no guarantee of help in any of them. A sixteen-year-old girl, bombed out in November, needed to get hold of a few pounds for clothes. She spent an entire day visiting offices across Norbury and Croydon – and came away with nothing.


To make matters worse, people desperate for relief were being received in the spirit of the poor law: hurdles were placed in their path as though they were paupers begging money for gin rather than victims of a national emergency. The most unsympathetic agency was proving to be the Assistance Board, the body responsible for dispensing financial aid, which usually erred, according to Richard Titmuss, ‘on the side of parsimony’.


But perhaps we should not be surprised that this mentality persisted into the 1940s. This was a time, after all, when workhouses, those totems of Dickensian London, were still in existence. Doreen Kluczynska spent the Blitz working in the nursery section of Knaresborough Workhouse in Yorkshire. Some of her charges were abandoned children, while others were the illegitimate offspring of ‘shamed’ young women who had been forced into the workhouse. ‘The children didn’t have any sweet ration,’ says Doreen, ‘no toys, no books, and clothes that didn’t fit them.’ The clothing was not even their own; each morning they were dressed in clothes another child had worn the day before.


One possible solution to the crisis in London was to move ‘useless mouths’ (as those not contributing to the war effort were known) out of the city.


The result – Evacuation Plan VII – was introduced on 22 September. Under this scheme, the government would pay for homeless mothers and children to be evacuated away, but only from a handful of east London boroughs; the plan was limited lest hordes of Cockney refugees were to apply and overwhelm the system. The government needn’t have worried: only about 2,600 mothers and children took up the offer in the last week of September. The scheme was then extended to cover the whole of London, and in October about 89,000 mothers and children were evacuated. But this figure was still lower than hoped, and the government responded with a propaganda campaign. One mother recalls the stern tones of ‘The Radio Doctor’, Charles Hill, as he ‘kept on about the selfish mothers who would not consider the offer of safety for their children’. The woman gave in to his bullying, and she and her daughter were evacuated to Devon.


There were, in truth, plenty of reasons why homeless people did not leave London in the expected numbers. Many simply preferred familiar surroundings – however dismal the circumstances. Some were tied to jobs locally, others had been evacuated in 1939 and were not keen to repeat the experience. And there were those, like Maggie Edwards’ mother, who wanted to stay near their damaged houses. When Maggie’s house was bombed in November, the family went to stay with her grandmother nearby, but they visited their own house regularly ‘to light the fire and make sure everything was secure’. On one visit, Maggie’s mother noticed that the front door was slightly ajar. She went in, and found that the gas and electricity meters had been cracked open, and the money taken. On the floor nearby was a lead truncheon. ‘Obviously the burglar had intended using it if we’d caught him in the act,’ says Maggie, ‘and we had to reimburse the Gas and Electricity Boards ourselves.’


Some people did leave London – before coming quickly back. Eileen Brome went to Bournemouth with her sister, stepdaughter, sister’s daughter, and friend’s daughter. All five of them shared a single room, which was testing enough, but then ‘we were called bomb-dodgers by the people of Bournemouth. They didn’t want us down there, they told us to go home again.’ Eventually, life became so unpleasant that Eileen and her group caught the train back to London. ‘We really thought bombs were better than people,’ she says. But things were to get even worse. A fortnight later, Eileen opened her jewellery box – to find that there were lots of pieces missing. ‘So I went to the police and they made enquiries, and it turned out the people we’d been staying with were known very well to the police. He was the biggest thief in Bournemouth!’


In the end, the real solution to the crisis did not lie in relocation, but in reorganisation. On 26 September, Henry Willink, MP for Croydon, was appointed Special Commissioner for the Homeless. Three days later, he gave a press conference at which he acknowledged the extent of the problems. He promised that the ‘pillar to post’ chasing after different officials ‘which too often has been demanded of the homeless’ would end at once. In future there would, he said, be one place for the homeless to go for all the primary necessities. He intended to clear the rest centres, as they were meant for only for emergency use. And he intended to sweep away the poor law mentality. From now on, he promised, ‘London Region will do its utmost for those who have suffered in the front line.’ Willink had been a battery commander on the Somme; he understood the concept of a front line.
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Henry Willink: the Conservative Member of Parliament who kick-started the welfare state.





In a matter of days, Willink set out clear and practical principles. He placed his greatest emphasis on providing new homes. This would be the responsibility of the local authorities, working seven days a week with extra staff. They would continually re-survey all of the available housing stock, personally escort people to their new billets, and resolve any disputes. They would take responsibility for requisitioning houses, and for supplying and salvaging furniture. Meanwhile the London County Council would be responsible for providing the immediate necessities of life. The LCC and the local authorities would liaise closely with each other, and members of Willink’s staff would monitor the whole of London to ensure that his improvements were properly carried through. And in a forward-thinking move, a permanent staff of social workers – known as ‘welfare inspectors’ – would be employed to deal with individual cases of distress.


Willink also dealt with the lack of information reaching the public, and the widely dispersed government agencies. He established Information Centres across the capital, and placed housing and welfare advisers in every rest centre. Assistance Board officials were sent into rest centres to make payments on the spot, while mobile units equipped as fully functioning offices went on the road, dispensing money in recently bombed areas. And most important of all, Administrative Centres were established in which the relevant agencies were finally gathered together under a single roof.


This was all too late to help Ida Rodway, but the ‘crisis in London’ was tackled effectively. Measures were also taken to improve the rate and quality of housing repairs. In December the military call-up of workers engaged on repairs was suspended, and a repair service was created of men specially released from the army. This was particularly important: people wanted to return to their own homes, and unlikely as it often seemed in the aftermath of a raid, most houses were repairable. Indeed by January 1941, eighty per cent of the houses damaged in London had already been repaired.


If Henry Willink was the man with the administrative skill to resolve the crisis, his example came from the Citizens Advice Bureaux (CAB). Described by the Manchester Guardian as a ‘clearinghouse for information’, the CAB was formed in 1938, but it came into its own during the Blitz, as its staff of keen volunteers helped to fill the governmental void before Willink’s improvements could take hold. The CAB motto, tellingly, was ‘We’re all in it together’.


As the organisation grew in size and standing, bureaux started opening in shelters, rest centres, and in private homes and offices across the country. Advisers were trained in post-raid welfare, so that they could inform the public where to apply for housing, clothes, emergency money, repair work – the information that the government should have been providing. In 1940 and 1941, this was the information that most people wanted, but surviving records reveal a wide range of applicants with a huge variety of problems.


Advisers were surprised by the numbers of people who needed help filling in forms. Illiteracy was a serious problem in Britain. A soldier came in to a bureau asking for help for his mother. Neither of them could fill in her evacuation form, or her compensation form for furniture lost in a raid. The woman’s husband and daughter had been killed in the raid, and she had nowhere to go. She was referred to a rest centre in Southwark, but the soldier was asked to bring his mother to the office so that she could be dealt with personally. In cases like this, pastoral care was as important as advice.


Elizabeth Atkin, the daughter of a House of Lords judge and one of the first CAB workers, understood the importance of listening. One evening, she was locking up the bureau in the Charing Cross Road. She wanted to get home before the bombing started. At that moment a man knocked on the door, and said, ‘I won’t keep you a moment. I just want your advice.’ Elizabeth let him in. He told her that he’d been offered a job in the north of England but that his wife didn’t want to leave London. ‘I think it’s a better job, but, of course, I don’t want to upset her.’ The man embarked on an hour-long monologue, while Elizabeth offered only the occasional yes or no. Eventually he left. The next morning, a letter came through the door. It read, ‘Thank you very much for your advice. I’ve taken it.’


Advisers had to become familiar with a wide range of charities offering different forms of assistance. One woman, having lost ‘everything’ in a raid, including £12 in cash and her spectacles, was referred to the Lord Mayor’s Fund for new spectacles, to the Personal Service League for clothes, to the Soldiers’, Sailors’ and Airmen’s Family Association for billeting expenses, and to the Women’s Holiday Fund. She was also offered an escort to her billet: assistance sometimes took more active forms.


Some queries required a detailed knowledge of law. An ARP man had been admitted to hospital after a raid, just as his army call-up papers were arriving. The ARP authorities could not pay his wages as he was technically now a soldier. And he had been refused compensation for his injuries despite their being caused by enemy action. The CAB took these matters up on his behalf. Other queries were of a personal nature. A woman whose husband was in the army abroad showed up in a panic; her husband had written her a letter saying that he had ‘heard things about her’. It is not clear (and not recorded) how the CAB could help. Another bureau was located near a camp of Dutch soldiers who had been evacuated from Dunkirk. A surprisingly short time later, one of the Dutch sergeants was being held responsible for a dozen local babies. According to an adviser, the Dutch authorities were very good about maintenance. ‘But it took a bit of sorting out . . .’


Elizabeth Atkin’s work extended well beyond office duties. Illustrating the debt owed by the government to the organisation, Elizabeth was to visit bombed houses to decide whether repairs should be carried out at the government’s expense or at the householder’s. The answer depended on who was living there. She remembers visiting a nice young man in a house in south London with shattered windows. ‘Is there a child or old person in the house?’ she asked. The answer was no. ‘I’m terribly sorry. I can’t help you. You’ll have to do it yourself.’


The CAB was only one of many voluntary organisations – and individuals – to come to the fore during the period. Bernard Nicholls was a social worker (and a conscientious objector) who tried to ease the plight of London’s down-and-outs. He helped to transform the crypt of St Martin-in-the-Fields into a dedicated shelter, removing the centuries-old coffins – one of which was Nell Gwyn’s – and reinterring them in the country. He and his colleagues replaced them with the long-term homeless.


‘At the time,’ Bernard says, ‘many shelters were experiencing problems with homeless people who usually slept in the parks.’ Many of these were verminous, many were alcoholics, and they were finding it difficult to find shelter. ‘We took people from the “submerged” thousands of Westminster’s population who had lived mostly out of sight of the generality of the population.’


One of these people was a drinker of neat methylated spirits whom Bernard succeeded in rehabilitating. A short while later, having been reunited with his family, the young man showed up again at the crypt, reeling and barely able to stand. Bernard was furious. ‘I took one look at him and said, “It’s perfectly obvious that I haven’t communicated with you. Let’s see if this will,” and I slapped him hard in the jaw. He went straight down. Then I realised the awfulness of what I’d just done.’


Bernard and his colleagues helped far more vulnerable people than they slapped, however, including one man so infested with lice, after months living in St James’s Park, that the skin on his back was a ‘wet pus-y mass’. After the war, a Social Care Unit was formed at St Martin’s to provide support for the homeless, and that work continues today, very much a legacy of the Blitz.


The Women’s Voluntary Service was a jill-of-all-trades which took on a staggering variety of functions during the Blitz. It was founded in 1938 by Stella Isaacs, Marchioness of Reading, described by friend Isobel Catto as ‘a remarkable person, who cut through any type of red tape, and got things done’. The organisation’s non-rank structure allowed members to share out roles according to individual strengths. This made it adaptable enough to staff rest centres, care for the homeless, set up mobile canteens, drive ambulances, man observation posts, carry out ARP duties, assist with evacuations, remove iron railings from buildings, collect a mass of rosehips (a source of Vitamin C), and far more besides.


Isobel Catto, a young woman from a well-to-do family, was given an administrative job at WVS Headquarters in Tothill Street, near Westminster. ‘We were the powerhouse sending out news and instructions to the local centres,’ she says. Women applied to join at these local centres, and word of mouth quickly increased the size of the organisation. ‘We really wanted to get as much time as people had to give.’


When the Blitz started, Isobel became involved in one of the WVS’s most important roles. ‘We were getting clothes for people who were bombed.’ Some of these clothes were donated, but Isobel’s job was to negotiate with clothing companies to buy coats, skirts and jerseys at wholesale prices. She would then distribute them to the local centres according to need. In December 1940 Isobel placed a large order with the Houndsditch Warehouse, a well-known East End department store. ‘I had not arranged to get it collected. It was Christmas, and I thought that it could wait.’
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